NOTICE OENgIOLAT!ON
PROPOSED IMPOSITION OF CIVIL PENALTY

United Hospita)l Center Docket No. N30-033375
Clarksburg, West Virginia License No. 47-01458-01
EA 87-214

During an NRC inspection conducted on October 22, 1987, violations of NRC
requirements were identified. In accordance with the "General Statement of
Policy and Procedure for NRC Enforcement Actions," 10 CFR Part 2, Append’x C
(1987), the Nuclear Regulatory Commission proposes to impose a civil penalty
pursuant to Section 234 of the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended (Act),
42 U.S.C. 2282, and 10 CFR 2.205. The particular violations and associated
civil penalty are set forth below:

A. License Condition 19 requires that the licensee shall conduct its program
in accordance with the statements, representations, and procedures contained
in the application dated Apri) 17, 1983, and in letters dated January 20,
1984; February 28, September 4, September 16, December 29, 1986, and
May 8, June 10, and August 25, 1987.

1. Item 7 of the application states, in part, that the Medical Isotopes
Committee shall meet not less than once in each calendar guarter.

Contrary to the above, the Medical Isotopes Committee did not meet
during the period between January 16, 1986, and August 6, 1986.

This is a repeat violation,

2. Item 7 of the application states, in part, that the Medical Isotopes
Committee shall review the entire Radiation Safety Program at least
annually.

Contrary to the above, the Medical Isutopes Committee did not perform
an annua)l review of the Radiation Safety Program in 1985 and 1986.

3. Item 12 of the application states, in part, that the personnel
training program will be given to all personnel who work with or
in the vicinity of radicactive materials and that the training
program will be of sufficient scope to ensure that all personnel,
including clerical, housekeeping, and security personnel, receive
proper instruction in the ftems specified in 10 CFR 19.12 before
assuming duties with or in the vicinity of radicactive materials,
and during annual refresher training.

Contrary to the above, as of October 22, 1987 and for an indeterminate
period of time prior to that date, the licensee did not conduct a
training program for clerical, housekeeping, and security personnel.

D. Item 10 of the application states, in part, tnat survey meters will
be calibrated on a quarterly basis.

Contrary to the above, the licenses failed to calibrate survey meters
consisting of the Eberline Model E~520 (S/N G85) and the Texas Nuciear
Mooe)l 912Z (S/N 44) during the fourth quarter of (986 (Uctober 1 =~
December 31, 1986).
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Notice of Violation « 3=

10 CFR 20.402(b) requires, in part, that each licensee who makes a report
under 10 CFR 20.402(a) shall, within 30 days after learning of the loss or
theft, make a report in writing to the U.>. MNuclear Regulatory Commission,
Document Control Desk, Washington, DC 20555, with a copy to the appro=
priate NRC Regional Office.

Contrary to the above, on July cl, 1982, 14 Iridium=192 seeds used during
a brachytherapy treatment and containing approximately 1.1 millicuries
each were lost by the licensee. In addition, nine additional Iridium=192
seeds, containing approximately 0.9 millicuries each, were lost in
January 1983, No immediate report was made by the 'icensee nor was the
required 30 day written report filed in either case.

These violations have been categorized in the aggregate as a Severity Level III
problem (Supplements IV and VI).

Cumulative Civil Penalty - $1,250 (assessed equally among the violations)

Pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2.201, Uni‘ted Hospital Center is hereby
required to submit a written statement or explanation to the Director, Office

of Enforcement, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, within 30 days of the date
of this Notice. Tris reply shculd be clearly marked as a "Reply to & Notice of
Violation" and should include for each violation: (1) admission or denial of
the violation, (2) the reasons for the violation if admitted, (3) the corrective
steps that have been taken and the results achieved, (4) the corrective steps
which will be taken to avoid further vicolations, and (5) the date when full
compliance will be achievec. If an adequate reply is not received within the
time specified in this Notice, an order may be issued to show cause why the
license should not be modified, s'spended, or revoked or why such other action
as may be proper should not be taken. Consideration may be given to extending
the response time for good cause shown. Under the authority of Section 182 of
the Act, 42 U.S.C. 2232, this response shal! be submitted under oath or affirma-
tion.

within the same time as provided for the response required above under

10 CFR 2.201, the Licensee may nay the civil penalty by letter addressed to the
Director, Office of Enforcement, U.S. Nuclear Regulateory Commission, with a
check, draft, or money crder payable to the Trcasurer of the United States in the
amount of the civil penalty proposed above, or the cumulative amount of the
civil penalties if more than one civi) penalty is proposec, or may protest
imposition of the civil penalty in whole or in part by a written answer
addressed to the Director, (ffice of Enforcement, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory
Commission. Should the Licensee fail 1~ answer within the time specified, an
order imposing the civil panalty will be issued. Should the Licensee elect to
file an answer in accordance with 10 CFR 2.205 protesting the civi) penalty, in
whole or in part, such answer should be clearly marked as an "Answer to a
Notice of Violation" and may: (1) deny the vinlations listed in thiy Notice in
whole or in part, (2) demcistvave extenuating circumstances, (3) show error in
this Noticw, or (4, show other reasons why the penalty should not be imposed.
In addition to protesting the civil penalty, such answer may request remission
or mitigation of the penalty.
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